RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

10-24-2016

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v. Case No. 2015AP002462CR

NATHAN J PAAPE,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POST-CONVICTION RELIEF, HONORABLE TIMOTHY VAN AKKEREN, PRESIDING, ENTERED IN THE SHEBOYGAN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT AND ORDER DENYING § 809.30 WIS. STATS.

CORRECTED DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S
BRIEF AND APPENDIX

Edward Hunt
Defendant-Appellant's Attorney
State Bar No. 1005649
HUNT LAW GROUP, S.C.
342 N WATER STREET
MILWAUKEE, WI 53202
(414) 225-0111

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

I. WHETHER UNDER WISCONSIN STATUTES §§ 973.014 (1g)(a)2 and 302.114, PAAPE'S LIFE SENTENCE, WITH ELIGIBILITY FOR RELEASE IN THIRTY YEARS UNDER EXTENDED SUPERVISION IS A DE FACTO LIFE SENTENCE IN VIOLATION OF THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT AND THE DUE PROCESS CLAUSES OF THE FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

This question was not presented to the circuit court.

II. WHETHER WISCONSN STATUTE § 302.114 RENDERS PAAPE'S LIFE SENTENCE A DE FACTO LIFE SENTENCE BECAUSE HE HAS NO MEANINGFUL OPPORTUNITY FOR RELEASE THIRTY YEARS INTO THE FUTURE.

This question was not presented to the circuit court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

By criminal complaint in Case No. 2012CF512, filed on September 21, 2012, the State charged Nathan J. Paape and Antonio D. Barbeau, codefendant, with First Degree Intentional Homicide - PTAC, in violation of §940.01(1)(a), §939.50(3)(a), §939.05, Wis. Stats., a Class A felony, occuring on September 17, 2012, for causing the death of Barbara Olson, in Sheboygan County Circuit Court.(1:1-4). On September 21, 2012, Paape made his initial appearance with counsel. The preliminary hearing was scheduled at that time to commence on October 2, 2012. (228: 1-9; 229: 1-27; 230: 1)

On October 2, 2012, the preliminary hearing commenced. After hearing testimony from witnesses and arguments of counsel, the circuit court found probable cause to believe that a felony had been comitted and Paape was bound over for trial. The circuit court also made a finding that a level of probable cause had been demonstrated that Paape

did, at least, as party to the crime, commit the crime of 1st Degree Intentional Homicide, pursuant to Wis. Stats. §948.01(1)(a), 939.50(3)(a), and 939.05. (60: 1-73).

Evidentiary hearings were held on Paape's reverse waiver request that jurisdiction of the case be transferred to juvenile court under Wis. Stats. §970.032(2) on January 29 and 30, 2013. At the conclusion of the reverse waiver hearing, the circuit court considered the testimony and arguments and ruled that Paape's case would not be transferred to juvenile court. (232: 1-242; 233:1-91;App. 1). On February 5, 2013, the circuit court entered a written order denying transfer of Paape's case to juvenile court. (46:1; App. 2).

Paape was arraigned on a Information charging him with one count of 1st Degree Intentional Homicide, pursuant to Wis. Stats. §948.01(1)(a), 939.50(3)(a), and 939.05 on February 5, 2013 and a plea of not guilty was entered. (20: 1-2; 234:1-9).

On February 5, 2013, Paape filed a motion for change of place of trial as well as an affidavit in support of this motion. (48:1; 49:1-89). On February 14, 2013, a hearing was held on Paape's motion for change of place of trial (55:1; 236:1-58). The circuit court denied Paape's motion for change of place of trial on February 14, 2013. (55:1; 236: 1-58).

On February 19, 2013, Paape filed with the Wisconsin Court of Appeals a petition for leave to appeal the non-final order denying the transfer of his case to juvenile court. His petition for leave to appeal a non-final order was denied by the Court of Appeals on April 4, 2013. (62:1-27; 65:1;80:1; App. 7).

Following a trial held from June 17, 2013 to June 20, 2013, the jury returned a guilty verdict on the charge of 1st-degree intentional homicide, as party to a crime, pursuant to Wis. Stats. Section 940.01(1)(a), and Wis. Stats., Section 939.05. (246: 1-86; 247:1-207; 248:1-211; 249: 1-80; App. 3). On August 13, 2013, Circuit Court sentenced the Paape to life in prison, and ordered Paape eligible for parole years into the future on the anniversary of his birthday. Paape, fourteen years old at the time of his sentencing, will not be eligible parole until December On the same day, the judgement of 2, 2043. conviction entered. The Department was Corrections (DOC) wrote a letter on August 14, 2013 to the circuit court informing the court that Paape was actually eligible for release to extended supervision and not parole. In a motion filed with the circuit court on August 21, 2013, the district attorney asked for a hearing to correct the judgement of conviction to reflect that Paape would be eligible for release to extended supervision, not parole. The circuit court responded by letter indicating a written order would correct the error. The judgement was never amended. (197:1; 250:1-54; 200:1; 201:1;202: 1-5; 203;204: 1-2; App. 4; App. 5).

post-conviction motion was filed September 18, 2015. Notice on the Attorney General was served. An amended post-conviction motion was filed on September 23, 2015 and Paape served an Amended Notice on the Attorney General that he had filed a challenge to the constitutionality of statutes. On October 13, 2015, The Wisconsin Attorney General's Office filed a letter with the circuit court acknowleging that the **Notices** relating to a challenge to the constitutionality of statutes had been received. (261:1-27; 262: 1-3; 274:1-26; 275:1-4; 263:1)

By written order and decision entered on November 10, 2015, the circuit court denied the post-conviction motion and amended post-conviction motion without a hearing. (261: 1-27; 274:1-26; 265: 1-9; App. 6) Paape continues to serve a life sentence with only the possibility of parole of parole. To be more than precise, he is only statutorily eligible for extended supervision thirty years into the future on the anniversary of his birthday. Paape filed a timely Notice of Appeal from the judgement of conviction and the order denying his post-conviction motion. (226:1-2). This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On September 17, 2012, two thirteen year old boys, Antonio Barbeau and Nathan Paape, commited together an unspeakable crime. They took the life of Barbeau's seventy eight year old great-grandmother, Barbara Olson in her home in Sheboygan Falls, Wisconsin. (1:1-4; 60;1-73;232: 1-242; 233:1-91; 246: 1-86; 247:1-207; 248:1-211; 249: 1-80 1-80; Slip Opinion of the Wisconsin Court of Appeals in *State v. Barbeau*, decided June 22, 2016, 1-25; App. 8: 1-25).

That day, the boys had a plan of sorts. Or at least, the sort of plan only two gravely disturbed and impulsive youngsters could cook up in their thirteenyear-old minds. The plan went something like this. Barbeau had an idea. He and Paape would go to Olson's house. And at Olson's home, they would kill her and get some money. As Paape would tell law enforcement officers later, Barbeau got a hatchet and Paape got a hammer. Paape's mother gave the two boys a ride to Olson's home. During the car ride, Paape's mother was unaware that the boys hid their weapons in their clothing. The boys were dropped off at Olson's home. (1:1-4; 60: 1-73; 232: 1-242; 233:1-91; 246: 1-86; 247:1-207; 248:1-211; 249: 1-80; Slip Opinion of the Wisconsin Court of Appeals in State v. Barbeau, decided June 22, 2016, 1-25; App. 8: 1-25).

Olson greeted Barbeau and Paape at the door. Mayhem and murder ensued as she turned her back on the two. Barbeau struck Olson with the blunt end of the hatchet. Olson fell to the floor. Barbeau continued to strike Olson several more times with the blunt end of the hatchet. Olson tried to cover her head and cried out for Barbeau to stop. Barbeau called for Paape's help. Then Paape landed two hammer blows to Olson's head. Finally Barbeau struck Olson's head with the sharp edge of the hatchet. In so doing, he lodged the blade of the hatchet in Olson's head. The hatchet was stuck there. Both boys pulled the hatchet loose. After all of the carnage, and believing Olson to be dead, Barbeau and Paape searched Olson's house, taking jewelry, a purse, and money. (1:1-4; 60: 1-73; 246: 1-86; 247:1-207; 248:1-211; 249: 1-80;).1-80; Slip Opinion of the Wisconsin Court of Appeals in State v. Barbeau, decided June 22, 2016, 1-25; App. 8: 1-25)

Barbeau and Paape then engaged in a ill conceived and hapless efforts to conceal Olson's murder. After failing in an attempt to put Olson in the trunk of her car, they left Olson's bloody body wrapped in a blanket on the floor of her garage. They wiped down portions of the house, placed the wipes in bags, and put the bags, along with the hammer and hatchet, and items pilferred from the house into Olson's car. Paape put a pillow on the driver's seat so

that he could see above the steering wheel, and then drove the car with Barbeau in the passenger seat back to Sheboygan, parking near a church, a few blocks from Paape's home. (1:1-4; 60: 1-73; 232: 1-242; 233:1-91; 246: 1-86; 247:1-207; 248:1-211; 249: 1-80;1-80; Slip Opinion of the Wisconsin Court of Appeals in *State v. Barbeau*, decided June 22, 2016, 1-25; App. 8: 1-25).

The next day Barbeau and Paape returned to the vehicle. After driving it to a bowling alley, the boys then walked to a pizzeria where they ate pizza. At a nearby supermarket, they purchased gloves and cleaning wipes. After returning to the car, they wiped down the interior and left the car unlocked with the keys in it. Most of the jewlery taken from Olson's home was exposed in the rear seat of the abandoned vehicle. Adjacent to the bowling alley parking lot, Barbeau and Paape tossed some wipes and gloves in the bushes. Then they returned to the car, wiped down the interior for fingerprints and blood, and left the car keys in the front seat with the jewelry in sight. in the hope that someone would steal the car and be blamed for the murder of Olson. Paape later said that the boys hoped that someone would steal the car and get blamed for the death.Barbeau and Paape took Olson's purse, which contained \$150. Olson's purse was tossed into a storm drain near Paape's house. (1:1-4; 60: 1-73;232: 1-242; 233:1-91; 246: 1-86; 247:1-207; 248:1-211; 249: 1-80; 1-80; Slip Opinion of the Wisconsin Court of Appeals in *State v. Barbeau*, decided June 22, 2016, 1-25; App. 8: 1-25).

Police found Olson's car. They recovered the hammer and hatchet, jewelry, and a school paper containing the name "Nate" from the vehicle. (1:1-4;60: 1-73; 246: 1-86; 247:1-207; 248:1-211; 249: 1-80; 1-80;Slip Opinion of the Wisconsin Court of Appeals in *State v. Barbeau*, decided June 22, 2016, 1-25; App. 8: 1-25).

In total, according to the medical examiner, Olson was struck twenty-seven times, eighteen of which were blows to the head. (1:1-4; 60: 1-73;232: 1-242; 233:1-91; 246: 1-86; 247:1-207; 248:1-211; 249: 1-80;1-80;Slip Opinion of the Wisconsin Court of Appeals in *State v. Barbeau*, decided June 22, 2016, 1-25; App. 8: 1-25).

Further facts will be discussed where necessary below.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument and publication are requested because of the significant issues raised in this appeal.

ARGUMENT

I. UNDER WISCONSIN STATUTES §§ 973.014(1g)(a)2 and 302.114, PAAPE'S LIFE SENTENCE, WITH ELIGIBILITY FOR RELEASE IN THIRTY YEARS UNDER EXTENDED SUPERVISION, IS A DE FACTO LIFE SENTENCE IN VIOLATION OF THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT AND THE DUE PROCESS CLAUSES OF THE FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

Standard of Review

The constitutionality of a statute is a question of law that that court of appeals review de novo. See State v. Baron, 2009 WI 58, ¶10, 318 Wis. 2d 60, 769 N.W.2d 34. A facial challenge to a statute alleges that the statute is unconstitutional on its face and thus is unconstitutional under all circumstances. State v. Smith, 2010 WI 16, ¶ 10 n. 9, 323 Wis.2d 377, 780 N.W.2d 90. Courts of review presume statutes are constitutional. A party attempting to argue a statute is unconstitutional carries a heavy burden. Id. In a facial challenge, the "challenger must establish, beyond a reasonable doubt, that there are no possible applications or interpretations of the statute which would be constitutional." State v. Wanta, 224 Wis.2d 679, 690, 592 N.W.2d 645 (Ct.App. 1999).

At the outset, it bears noting that Paape has not waived or forfeited his constitutional challenges to Wis. Stats. §§ 973.014 (1g)(a)2 and 302.114 under the Eight, Fifth, and Fourteenth Amendments by not raising these arguments in the circuit court. Paape is raising facial challenges to the constitutionality of

Wis. Stats. §§ 973.014 (1g)(a)2 and 302.114 not as applied challenges to these statutes.

In both State v. Cole, 2003 WI 112, ¶46, 264 Wis. 2d 520, 665 N.W.2d 328, and State v. Trochinski, 2002 WI 56, 253 Wis.2d 38, ¶34 n.15, 644 N.W.2d 891, 253 Wis. 2d 38, the Wisconsin Supreme Court ruled that while an "as applied" challenge to the constitutionality of a statute may be waived, a facial challenge is a matter of subject matter jurisdiction and cannot be waived. These holdings are entirely consistent with Article VII, Section 8 of the Wisconsin Constitution. Article VII. Section 8 states that "[e]xcept as otherwise provided by law," circuit courts have original jurisdiction "in all matters civil and criminal." If a statute is unconstitutional on its face, any action premised upon that statute fails to present any civil or criminal matter in the first instance. As the court of appeals correctly noted in State ex rel. Skinkis v. Treffert, 90 Wis.2d 528, 280 N.W.2d 316 (Ct.App.1979), if the facial attack on the statute were correct, the statute would be null and void, and the court would be without the power to act under the statute. Skinkis, 90 Wis. 2d at This is contrasted from an "as applied" 538. challenge, where the court initially has jurisdiction over the subject matter, as the statute is valid upon its face.

A. The Relevant Sentencing, Original Jurisdiction and Reverse Waiver Statutes.

A person who commits first-degree intentional homicide is guilty of a class A felony, Wis. Stats. § 940.01(1), the penalty for which is life imprisonment, Wis. Stats. § 939.50 (3) (a).

First degree intentional homicide refers to causing "the death of another human being with intent to kill" that person. Wis. Stat. § 940.01(1)(a). A person convicted of first degree intentional homicide is subject to life with extended supervision after twenty years, life with extended supervision beginning on a particular date, or life without extended supervision. Wis. Stat. § 973.014(1g)(a) 1,2, 3.

Wisconsin circuit courts have original adult jurisdiction over a juvenile who commits first-degree intentional homicide on or after the juvenile's tenth birthday. See Wis. Stats. § 938.183 (1) (am),(1m). A juvenile offender charged with first degree intentional homicide on or after the juvenile's tenth birthday has a statutory right to a reverse waiver hearing. Wis. Stats. 970.032 (2). Essentially, the adult criminal court must retain jurisdiction unless the juvenile proves all of the following: (1) the juvenile could not receive adequate treatment in the adult criminal system; (2) transferring the case to the juvenile system would not depreciate the seriousness of the offense; and (3) retaining the case in the adult criminal court is not necessary to deter other juveniles from committing similar offenses. Wis. Stats. 970.032 (2)(a)(b) & (c).

B. Supreme Court decisions in *Miller* and *Montgomery* mark a new era for juvenile sentencing jurisprudence in terms of the Eight Amendment and the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment.

1. Eight Amendment and Juveniles Sentenced in Adult Court to Life Imprisonment

Now, "[a]n offender's age is relevant to the Eighth Amendment," *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. ____, 132 S.Ct. 2455 ,2462 (2012). A court must consider the juvenile offender's age "before imposing a

particular penalty." Id. at 2471.

In *Miller*, the Supreme Court examined the cases of two juvenile offenders convicted of homicide offenses and sentenced to life in prison without parole pursuant to sentencing schemes in their states that mandated the imposition of a life-without-parole sentence. 132 S.Ct. at 2460. The juvenile offenders contended that these mandatory sentencing schemes violated the Eighth Amendment by running "afoul of *Graham* 's admonition that '[a]n offender's age is relevant to the Eighth Amendment, and criminal procedure laws that fail to take defendants' youthfulness into account at all would be flawed." "*Miller*,132 S.Ct. at 2462 (quoting *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. at 75 (2010)).

The Supreme Court ruled in favor of the juvenile offenders and reversed the sentences imposed and held that 'mandatory life without parole for those under the age of 18 at the time of their crimes violates the Eighth Amendment's prohibition on "cruel and unusual punishments". The Court took its previous pronouncements on juvenile offenders sentenced in adult court much further than before. on Court amplified previous precedent children establishing that are constitutionally different from adults for purposes of sentencing. The Court went on to recognize that juveniles have diminished culpability and greater prospects for reform. And therefore, 'they are less deserving of the most severe punishments." Miller, 132 S.Ct. at 2464 (quoting Graham 560 U.S. at 68).

While Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551 (2005) baned the death penalty for juvenile offenders, and *Graham* pronounced a rule banning the imposition of a life sentence without parole for juvenile offenders who commit nonhomicide offenses, *Miller* "set out a

different [rule] (individualized sentencing) for homicide offenses." Miller, 132 S.Ct. at 2466 n. 6. Miller 's rule of individualized sentencing for juvenile offenders is effectuated through a "hearing where 'youth and its characteristics' attendant are considered sentencing factors," since such a hearing "is necessary to separate those juveniles who may be sentenced to life without parole from those who may not." Montgomery v. Louisiana, U.S., 136 S.Ct. 718, 735 (2016) (internal citation omitted). As the Supreme Court has made clear, "The hearing does not replace but rather gives effect to Miller's substantive holding that life without parole is an excessive sentence for children whose crimes reflect transient immaturity." Id. (emphasis added).

Miller, then, mandates that a sentencing court consider the juvenile offender's "chronological age and its hallmark features" before imposing sentence. A sentencer must "consider[] a juvenile's lessened culpability and greater capacity for change" as compared to an adult. Miller, 132 S.Ct. at 2460 (internal quotation omitted). The sentencer must consider the juvenile offender's "lack of maturity and [] underdeveloped sense of responsibility," that lead "recklessness. impulsivity, and heedless risk-taking." Id. at 2464 (internal quotation omitted). The Supreme Court's requirement of individualized sentencing for juvenile offenders forbids a sentencer from "treat[ing] every child as an adult," because doing so inevitably ignores the "incompetencies associated with youth," and "disregards the possibility of rehabilitation even when the circumstances most suggest it." Id. at 2468.

The *Montgomery* decision issued this year further clarifies the import of *Miller* in that the Eight Amendment places a ceiling on punishment for the vast majority of juvenile offenders. According to the

Court in *Montgormery*, the holding of Miller "did more than require a sentencer to consider a juvenile offender's youth before imposing life without parole; it established that the penological justifications for life without parole collapse in light of "the distinctive attributes of youth. Even if a court considers a child's age before sentencing him or her to a lifetime in prison, that sentence still violates the Eighth Amendment for a child whose crime reflects unfortunate yet transient immaturity." *Montgomery*, 136 S. Ct. at 734 (internal quotations marks and citatons omitted). A life sentence without parole for juvenile offender is excessive for all but "the rare juvenile offender whose crime reflects irreparable corruption" *Miller*, 567 U.S. _____, 132 S. Ct. at 2465.

The Supreme Court has rendered life without parole an unconstitutional penalty for "a class of defendants because of their status"—that is, juvenile offenders whose crimes reflect the transient immaturity of youth. Penry [v. Lynaugh, 492 U.S. 302, 330,(1989)]. Montgomery, 136 S.Ct. at 734 (emphasis supplied). In discussing procedural requirement of the Miller decision, the Montgomery Court noted that "Miller requires a sentencer to consider a juvenile offender's youth and attendant characteristics before determining that life without parole is a proportionate sentence." Id. As the Court reasoned, just because "Miller did not impose a formal factfinding requirement does not leave States free to sentence a child whose crime reflects transient immaturity to life without parole. To the contrary. *Miller* established that this punishment is disproportionate under the Eighth Amendment." Id. at 735.

2. Procedural Due Process

The constitutional guarantee of due process of

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