## **RECEIVED**

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN 11-23-2016

# COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT II

Case No. 2015AP2462-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

NATHAN J. PAAPE,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN SHEBOYGAN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, HONORABLE TIMOTHY VAN AKKEREN, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

ANNE C. MURPHY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1031600

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-9224 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) murphyac@doj.state.wi.us

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

#### ARGUMENT

I. Paape has forfeited his facial and as-applied challenges to the constitutionality of Wis. Stats. §§ 973.014(1g)(a)2 and 302.114 by failing to raise them below.

Paape has forfeited both his facial and as-applied challenges to the constitutionality of Wis. Stat. §§ 973.014(1g)(a)2 and 302.114 by failing to raise them in his post-conviction motion before the trial court.

"Issues that are not preserved at the circuit court, even alleged constitutional errors, generally will not be considered on appeal." State v. Huebner, 2000 WI 59, ¶ 10, 235 Wis. 2d 486, 611 N.W.2d 727; see also Rehab. Of Seg. Account of Ambac Assur. Corp., 2012 WI 22, ¶ 22, 339 Wis. 2d 48, 810 N.W.2d 450. Forfeiture refers to "the failure to make the timely assertion of right" and "waiver is the intentional relinquishment or abandonment of a known right." State v. Ndina, 2009 WI 21, ¶ 29, 315 Wis. 2d 653, 761 N.W. 2d 612. The purpose of the forfeiture doctrine includes "enabl[ing] the circuit court to avoid or correct any error with minimal disruption to the judicial process, eliminating the need for appeal" and to give the parties and the circuit court "notice of the issue." Id. ¶ 30. "There is a recognized need for forfeiture in the criminal justice system." State v. Thompson, 2012 WI 90, ¶ 72, 342 Wis. 2d 674, 904. It 818 N.W.2dfacilitates the fair. orderly administration of justice, encourages vigilance by litigants, and conserves judicial and prosecutorial resources. State v. Pinno, 2014 WI 74, ¶ 56, 356 Wis. 2d 106, 850 N.W.2d 207. However, waiver or forfeiture is a rule of judicial administration which a reviewing court, in its discretion, may choose not to apply if the interests of justice require review of an otherwise waived issue. See State v. Davis, 199 Wis. 2d 513, 519, 545 N.W.2d 244 (Ct. App. 1996).

While Paape purports to appeal from the order denying his postconviction motion, he did not present or argue the issues he raises on appeal in his postconviction motion. In his postconviction motion, Paape argued that his trial counsel was ineffective for not moving to dismiss the prosecution because Wisconsin's original adult jurisdiction statute, Wis. Stat. § 938.183(1)(am), is unconstitutional as applied to Paape and because Wisconsin's reverse waiver statute, Wis. Stat. § 970.032(2) and the hearing under that section, are unconstitutional both facially and as applied to Paape. Paape sought an order declaring these statutes unconstitutional asapplied to Paape, vacating his conviction, dismissing the case and returning his case to juvenile court. (261.) Paape did not challenge constitutionality of the statutes under which he was sentenced.

Therefore, Paape presents the issue of the constitutionality of Wis. Stat. §§ 973.014(1g)(a)2 and 302.114 for the first time on direct appeal. Because he did not raise this issue in the circuit court, Paape has forfeited his challenge to the statutes' constitutionality. By not raising the constitutional basis in the circuit court, Paape has deprived the State of notice of his challenge. He has also deprived this Court of the benefit of the circuit court's reasoning on the matter. See Dyson v. Hempe, 140 Wis. 2d 792, 803, 413 N.W.2d 379 (Ct. App. 1987).

Paape concedes that he did not raise his constitutional challenge to these statutes in the circuit court. (Paape's Br. 10.) But, he argues that he "is raising facial challenges to the constitutionality of Wis. Stats. §§ 973.014 (1g)(a)2 and 302.114 not as applied challenges to these statutes," and that while an "as applied" constitutional challenge can be

waived, a "facial" constitutional challenge cannot be waived, citing *State v. Cole*, 2003 WI 112, 264 Wis. 2d 520, 665 N.W.2d 328 and *State v. Trochinski*, 2002 WI 56, 253 Wis. 2d 38, 644 N.W.2d 891 (Paape's Br. 10–11). In *Cole*, this Court determined that where the defendant had pled guilty, "a 'facial' constitutional challenge was a matter of subject matter jurisdiction and could not be waived" but "an 'as applied' challenge was a non-jurisdictional defect that could be waived." *Cole*, 264 Wis. 2d 520, ¶ 46 (citing *Trochinski*, 253 Wis. 2d 38, ¶ 34 n.15).

However, in this case, the issue is not whether Paape waived his constitutional challenge by pleading guilty; the issue is whether Paape has forfeited his challenges by failing to raise them in the circuit court. Paape confuses the concepts of "waiver" of a constitutional claim as a result of entering a guilty plea, and "forfeiture" as a result of failing to raise a constitutional claim in the circuit court. In this case, Paape has forfeited his constitutional claims by not raising them in his postconviction motion in the circuit court. Because *Cole* and *Trochinski* address the issue of waiver of a constitutional issue in the context of a guilty plea, these cases are inapplicable to this case where Paape had a jury trial and do not support Paape's argument that he is able to challenge the constitutionality of these statutes for the first time on appeal.

In theory, Paape would not have waived a facial challenge to the statutes by pleading guilty or no contest. But, Paape is not actually making a facial challenge to the constitutionality of Wisconsin's life imprisonment/extended supervision eligibility and petition for release to extended supervision statutes for anyone convicted of a Class A felony. "[A] facial challenge to the constitutionality of a statute cannot prevail unless that statute cannot be enforced

"under circumstances." State Padley, any v. 2014 WI App 65, ¶ 16, 354 Wis. 2d 545, 849 N.W.2d 867. (citation omitted). Paape's arguments on appeal are not that these statutes are unconstitutional as to any individual convicted of a Class A felony. Instead, Paape argues that his particular sentence—life with the ability to petition for release extended supervision in 30 to years—is unconstitutional because he is a juvenile and these statutes do not take that into account and he does not have a meaningful opportunity for release. (Paape's Br. 10–27.) Thus, Paape is not making a facial challenge because he asserts that the statutes are unconstitutional as applied to him as a juvenile convicted of first degree intentional homicide and sentenced to life in prison with eligibility for extended supervision in thirty years.

Regardless of whether Paape makes facial or as-applied challenges, Paape has forfeited his constitutional challenges to Wis. Stat. §§ 973.014(1g)(a)2 and 302.114. He failed to argue that the statutes were unconstitutional in the circuit court, and he may not raise this issue for the first time on appeal.

# II. Paape does not have standing to facially challenge the statutes.

Even if Paape has not forfeited his constitutional challenge to these statutes, Paape does not have standing to facially challenge the statutes. Paape has not shown that he has a suffered an injury in fact as a result of the circuit court's exercise of its discretion under Wis. Stat. § 973.014(1g)(a)2 to sentence him to life with eligibility for extended supervision in thirty years, or an injury in fact as a result of the procedures for petitioning for extended supervision under Wis. Stat. § 302.114.

Wisconsin courts employ "a two-step analysis for a challenge to standing: '(1) Does the challenged action cause the petitioner injury in fact? and (2) is the interest allegedly injured arguably within the zone of interests to be protected or regulated by the statute or constitutional guarantee in question?" Coyne v. Walker, 2015 WI App 21, ¶7, 361 Wis. 2d 225, 862 N.W.2d 606 (quoting *Wisconsin's Envtl.*) Decade, Inc., v. PSC, 69 Wis. 2d 1, 10, 230 N.W.2d 243 standing to (1975)). A party has challenge constitutionality of a statute "if that statute causes that party injury in fact and the party has personal stake in the outcome of the action." State v. Iglesias, 185 Wis. 2d 117, 132, 517 N.W. 2d 175 (1994).

In *State v. Barbeau*, Paape's co-defendant challenged the facial constitutionality of Wis. Stat. § 973.014(1g)(a)3 on the grounds that it permitted a sentencing court to impose life imprisonment with no extended supervision. This Court found that Barbeau lacked standing to challenge that subsection because Barbeau was not sentenced to life without an opportunity to petition for release: "[s]ince Barbeau was not found ineligible for release to extended supervision, he was not injured by §973.014(1g)(a)3 and thus, has no standing to challenge it." 370 Wis. 2d 736, ¶ 24.3

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Although this Court found that Barbeau did not have standing to challenge life imprisonment of juveniles without parole under Wis. Stat. § 973.014(1g)(a), it exercised its discretion to address and deny Barbeau's challenge on the merits, finding that "our supreme court rejected a similar, but slightly different, categorical challenge to the application of the sentencing scheme for first-degree intentional homicide to juvenile offenders in" *State v. Ninham*, 2011 WI 33, 333 Wis. 2d 335, 797 N.W. 2d 451, and that "*Miller v. Alabama*, \_U.S. \_, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 2463-64, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 (2012) does not alter the analysis of *Ninham*." *Barbeau*, 370 Wis. 2d 736, ¶ 25.

Similarly, Paape lacks standing to challenge the constitutionality of the entirety of Wis. Stat. § 973.014(1g)(a) because he did not receive his sentence under Wis. Stat. § 973.014(1g)(a)1., which allows a court to impose a life sentence with the possibility of extended supervision after 20 years, or Wis. Stat. § 973.014(1g)(a)3., which provides for life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. See Barbeau, 370 N.W. 2d 736, ¶ 24. Instead, Paape was sentenced under Wis. Stat. § 973.014(1g)(a)2., which gives the circuit court discretion to set the eligibility date for extended supervision. Paape does not allege that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion in determining that he will be eligible for extended supervision in 30 years; therefore, he has not shown that he was injured by the court's exercise of its sentencing discretion under that provision.

Further, Paape lacks standing to facially challenge the constitutionality of Wis. Stat. § 302.114 because he has not been injured by this statute. The statute provides for the procedure for petitioning for release to extended supervision after the stated time period in the sentence expires: in this case, on Paape's 45th birthday. Any injury that Paape "may" suffer in thirty years, as a result of the procedure under Wis. Stat. § 302.114 for petitioning for release to extended supervision, is wholly speculative and will occur far in the future; therefore, it is not an "injury in fact."

Paape lacks standing to facially challenge the constitutionality of Wis. Stat. §§ 973.014(1g)(a)2 and 302.114. Therefore, even if his constitutional challenges had merit, his appeal must be denied.

III. Paape has failed to show that his sentence and the statutes he challenges are unconstitutional because under controlling case law, a life sentence imposed on a juvenile for first degree intentional homicide that takes into account the juvenile's "transient immaturity" by providing the ability to petition for release to extended supervision after a set period is constitutional.

If this court chooses to not apply forfeiture, finds that Paape has standing, and addresses Paape's constitutional claims on the merits, his claims still fail.

Paape presents two inter-related issues. First, Paape argues that the statutes under which he was sentenced are facially unconstitutional and therefore his sentence violates to Eighth Amendment and the Due Process Clauses of the United States Constitution. (Paape's Br. 10–17.) Second, Paape argues that the procedure for petitioning for release to extended supervision under Wis. Stat. § 302.114 renders his sentence a "de facto" life sentence because he has no meaningful opportunity for release in thirty years. (Paape's Br. at 17–27.)

#### Paape frames the issues as follows:

[W]hether a life sentence with eligibility for extended supervision imposed on a juvenile offender is unconstitutional under the Eighth Amendment, Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution based on the United States Supreme Court decisions in *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48 (2010), *Miller v. Alabama*, \_U.S. \_ 132 S.Ct. 2455 (2012) and *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, \_ U.S. \_, 136 S.Ct. 718 (2016) when the statute that governs his or her chance for extended supervision renders his or her sentence a de facto life sentence because he or she has no "meaningful opportunity" for release on extended supervision

"based on demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation."

(Paape's Br. 18.)<sup>4</sup> Paape's arguments are without merit.

#### A. Relevant law and standard of review.

"The constitutionality of a statutory scheme is a question of law that [an appellate court] review[s] de novo." *Ninham*, 333 Wis. 2d 335, ¶ 44. In *Ninham*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court described the heavy burden carried by one challenging the constitutionality of a statute:

Every legislative enactment ispresumed constitutional. As such, [an appellate court] will "indulge[] every presumption to sustain the law if at all possible, and if any doubt exists about a statute's constitutionality, [an appellate court] must resolve that doubt in favor of constitutionality." Accordingly, the party challenging a statute's heavy burden. constitutionality faces a challenger must demonstrate that the statute is unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt. In this case, [the defendant] faces the heavy burden of demonstrating that a punishment approved by the Wisconsin legislature, and thus presumably valid, is cruel and unusual in violation of the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 6 of the Wisconsin Constitution.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Social Security Administration publishes actuarial tables showing the statistically calculated remaining life of a person at any given age. Paape, who was sentenced at age 15, had 66.64 additional years of life expectancy as of that age (i.e., statistically, he could expect to live to a bit beyond his 81st birthday), so extended-supervision eligibility, in 30 years at 45 years of age, hardly amounts to a life sentence, de facto or otherwise. See https://www.ssa.gov/oact/STATS/table4c6.html (last visited Nov. 22, 2016)

*Id.* (citations omitted). The presumption of the constitutionality of a statute and the burden on the challenger to show it is unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt "apply to as-applied constitutional challenges to statutes as well as to facial challenges." *State v. McGuire*, 2010 WI 91, ¶ 25, 328 Wis. 2d 289, 786 N.W.2d 227.

Under the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution, which applies States to through the Fourteenth Amendment, individuals are protected against "excessive sanctions" such "cruel asand unusual punishments." Ninham, 333 Wis. 2d 335, ¶ 45. "[T]he Supreme Court has determined that a punishment is 'cruel and unusual' in violation of the Eighth Amendment if it falls within one of two categories: (1) 'those modes or acts of punishment that had been considered cruel and unusual at the time that the Bill of Rights was adopted in 1791; or (2) punishment inconsistent with 'evolving standards of decency that mark the progress of a maturing society." Id. ¶ 46. (citations omitted.)

B. Paape was not sentenced as a juvenile to life without the possibility of parole under a mandatory statutory scheme and therefore, under *Miller*, his sentence imposed under Wisconsin's discretionary statutory scheme is not cruel and unusual punishment.

On appeal, Paape cites several United States Supreme Court cases to support his argument that the statutes under which he was sentenced and under which he may petition for release to extended supervision in thirty years, Wis. Stat. §§ 973.014(1g)(a)2 and 304.114, are unconstitutional. (Paape's Br. 12–19.) But none of the sentencing schemes at issue in those cases are like the statutes under which Paape was sentenced.

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